THE SUPER TRAIL (a.k.a. THE “HAPPYCAT” WAY)
Introduction
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This “Super Trail” encompasses all the other trails within this book. It will take the walker through some of the prettiest parts of Bradford North East, and also some of the most historic. It also includes points of interest that were either missed by the other trails, or felt to be just outside of their areas. The trail is roughly ten miles long; it can be walked in one go, though you will need an early start, plenty of refreshments, and regular stops. As a way to earn funds for charities it could make a brilliant sponsored-walk; children and parents can “learn as they earn” as well as getting fit.
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The trail has a second name – the “Happycat” Way, voted for by the children who created the trails for this book. Mr. (Professor) Happycat Jones (pies ‘n’ puds) is an assistant historian to Malcolm Hanson, who led the trails project. Mr. Jones was a much-loved character around the classroom, helping children with their work, and adding a touch of quirkiness to the general excitement. He continues to aid “Mr. Malcolm” in creating new trails with new schools. 
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This trail can be joined at any point, but for the purposes of this book, it begins at Thackley, at the junction of Leeds Road and Thackley Road. Walk to the end of Thackley Road and cross to join Ainsbury Avenue, and then continue until you come to the entrance to Buck Wood, on the left. Follow the trail into the wood and shortly you will come to a large notice board. This is owned by the Friends of Buck Wood, and will tell you about the Thackley Open Air School that stood close to this spot. 

Thackley Open Air School was one of the first of its kind in the country. It was opened in 1909 to help the poorest of Bradford’s “slum” children attain an [image: image4.jpg]it L e s Bt
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education away from the clogged-up mill chimneys and rat-infested back-streets of the city. The pupils were brought daily by tram, and spent as much time as possible in the open-fronted south-facing classrooms, or in the woods themselves, receiving as much fresh air in their lungs as they could take. Children with such diseases as tuberculosis, rickets, anaemia and chronic infections all made their way from the polluted city to the countryside, where they stood a good chance of recovery. A typical school day was quite long by todays standards: breakfast at 9.00am, then lessons, games, meals and a compulsory rest period. The day ended between 5.30pm and 6.00pm with games. The school closed in 1939; thousands of children had attended over the 30-year period, and no doubt thousands of lives had been helped.
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Today, there is little to see of the original school, a few steps and kerb-stones perhaps, but the area retains a feeling of well being; good was done here, and we should remember this school with great affection.
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From here our trail takes us deeper into Buck Wood. As we walk one must keep a look out for the “toothache tree” – this is a tree studded with nails, put there by superstitious people who believed one could transfer the pain to the tree by hammering a nail in it and perhaps tying a handkerchief to the nail. Did it work? Well, we won’t be trying it ourselves today! Keep to the trail, as it will lead us close to the canal, which we follow to a point where we can rejoin Ainsbury Avenue, and walk down to the swing bridge. Here we can join the Leeds Liverpool Canal, walking in the direction of Greengates. Mr. Happycat quotes: 
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“The idea of a canal was first mooted as far back as 1664, but nothing came of it. It would be another hundred years before real progress was made but it was, in the body of John Hustler of Bradford, who persuaded wealthy Quakers (members of a religious community) to fund the idea. Many meetings would take place, but by 1770 an Act had been passed so the building of the canal could begin. The first completed section of the canal was between Bingley and Skipton, opened in 1773. It is said the bells rang out from all the churches along the route, and thousands of people celebrated. It would take a while longer for our section of the canal to open – 1777 to be precise, but when it did, all our bells rang out too!“
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We continue our walk along the canal until we near the railway bridge. Here, just before, and on the left, is a gap in the fence, with a footpath that will take us down into the valley, and to the foot bridge that crosses the River Aire. Our trail does not actually take us across the bridge but we invite you to walk out to the centre and peer into the murky waters below. Here the water flows fast so be careful – and do not even think of going for a swim! Return to the foot path and cross the stile on the left; it takes us into the field, where we will see, up ahead, the railway viaduct. We walk the full length of the field and cross under the railway, turning left to join a path that continues across the fields to join Apperley Road Keep watch for the horses that dwell in these fields; they are friendly, but don’t encourage them to come to you! Looking back from this point we can see the viaduct. Mr. Happycat quotes: 
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“Look carefully and one can see that, though most of the bridge is made of stone, one of the spans is actually of steel. There is a tragic reason for this. To know why the bridge was rebuilt with steel, we must return to 1866 and to the night of 20th November, and to an event subsequently named “The Great Flood of 1866”. The details were recorded thus: “There had been torrential rains for some days resulting in the flooding of the rivers and the consequent submerging of vast areas of Yorkshire.” The floods began in the ravines above Malham, and soon every little beck became a raging torrent. The whole of the Aire Valley was under water, while here only the crowns of the trees were showing above. With so much water flowing down the valley, smashing against the bridge and loosening the foundations, the ten-arched viaduct fell – taking with it a fully-loaded luggage train, consisting of engine and tender, two wagons, and the guard’s van. Incredibly, a passenger train – usually carrying a large number of business men – had passed over the bridge only minutes before; the guard reporting that the bridge had shuddered – even moved, as they crossed. He had relayed this message immediately, but too late to save the goods train. Though the red-for-danger signal was flown, the engine driver was already bringing his train to the bridge’s approach and could not halt in time. The train actually came to a stop directly on the bridge - above the raging torrent - and a bridge now swaying dangerously. Amazingly, the men had just enough time to escape; some even still on the bridge as it came crashing down around them, but they all made it to safety.  One observer, standing safely on the hill above, reported: “All ten arches fell with a tremendous crash, into the swirling river below; the train now completely buried in the ruins. The enormous mass of masonry, as it lay across the channel, completely blocked the progress of the torrent, but not for long. Within seconds the water rose up, leaping over the barrier, and was again tearing down the valley.” 
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the eacly days of the year 1824 a bill was to be seen posted in various
parts of Idle-Thorpe and the district, which was worded as follows :

THE PUBLIC ARE RESPECTFULLY INFORMED

THAT
JOHN WROE
WILL BE
PUBLICLY RAPTISED

IN THE RIVER AIRE.
NEAE IDLE-THORPE
AT HALF-PAST ONE 0'CLOCK
NDAY, THE 20TH DAY OF THE 25D MoxTH, 1824,

AT WHICH HOLY ORDINANCE APPROPRIATE HYMNS (ACCOMPANIED BY A
SELECT BAND OF MUSIC) WILL BE SUNG, AND IMMEDIATELY AFTER
WILLIAM TWIGG,

OXE OF THE WITNESSES MENTIONED IN REV. CHAP. 1] WILL PREACH THE
EVERLASTING GOSPEL, A% REVEALED BY THE REDEEMER OF THE WORLD.




Joining Apperley Road, we pass the huge field on our left where an amazing event took place. It concerned Bradford’s greatest charlatan, the “Prophet” John Wroe[image: image16.jpg]


: Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Mr. Wroe was a follower of Johanna Southcott, a lady who claimed she was a prophetess, had visions, and was the woman mentioned in Revelation XII of the Bible, who would bear a son to be the new Saviour. This took place in the early 1800s, when religious mania was rife, and it soon became clear to Mr. Wroe that people were willing to believe anything they were told. In 1819, He too suddenly announced he was having visions where he saw the future. He said angels visited him, commanding him to form his own church, where his followers would be safe from “terrible things to happen”. People flocked to his sermons, and being his “flock”, Mr. Wroe began fleecing them! But he would become a “cropper” himself the day he announced he would come to Apperley Bridge to be baptised. By this time the “Prophet” had a huge following, including a group of virgins dressed in white, who accompanied him everywhere he went. He was expecting a large crowd to turn up, but not quite the crowd that did! On his arrival from Idle (where his procession had begun), he found waiting for him a crowd of 30,000 people! 
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His route from Idle was along New Street and Apperley Road, arriving at the swing bridge on the canal, before moving on to the river. We can follow in his footsteps by continuing along Apperley Road and following it round to a point a couple of hundred yards before Elm Tree Farm. Here, on the left is a massive field, which we can enter by use of a stile, and walk down to the river bank. Looking down, we can see where the shallows would allow for him to be bathed without fear of drowning. But thereby hangs the tale! The huge crowd of 30,000 had mostly come for fun, all hoping to see Wroe come to a sticky end. A rumour went round that he had actually come to perform a miracle – he was to part the waters of the Aire, just like Moses had done; even walk on water like Jesus! With the crowd baying for blood, the “Prophet” was now forced to perform and, of course, he failed – miserably! The crowd, however, was not about to let him go, and shouts of “drown him” and “duck him” were heard, and Wroe had to run for his life. He survived the ordeal, and still went on to make a vast fortune from his “believers” – but he never returned to Apperley Bridge!”
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A little further on we arrive at Elm Tree Farm, a lovely little cottage stood at the side of the road. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“This ancient farmstead has stood here for at least four-hundred years, being first recorded in 1629, when it was owned by a Thomas Atkinson. It was originally known as Slater’s farm, then later – with the planting of an elm tree – it was renamed Elm Tree Farm. To live here is no doubt a dream, but just remember: this building lay in the direct way of that flood of 1866; here the terrified residents had huddled together on the upper floors, watching from the upper windows as the viaduct fell; saw the waters ever rising, swirling around the house, the downstairs rooms completely under water. They saw their sheep and cattle been carried off in the swirling waters; their hay ricks, hen-coops, dog-kennels and farmyard goods and machinery swept away into the night. For them it was no dream – it was a nightmare!”

Up ahead we can see the old Apperley Bridge spanning the River Aire, as well as the George and Dragon Inn, opposite. Both of these are major points of interest on our trail, not just for what they are, but because of certain events that have happened here. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Our next point of interest is the old bridge, which we soon arrive at. Standing in the centre we can see there is an old upright stone. It is very difficult (and too dangerous to get close to) to see what it says, but if it is a date stone it should have the date 1602 on it, which is when the bridge was built. Before this, there had been another stone bridge, and long before that a wooden one dating back to 1189; in fact, at one time Apperley Bridge was the only crossing on the River Aire between Bingley and Kirkstall. It was over this bridge that Cromwell’s men marched when on their way to relieve Leeds in the Civil Wars. It was also over this bridge that marched – one hundred years later – “Rebecca” who had “gone out to sweep.” Rebecca? Now what in Heaven’s name are we talking about, you ask? Well, things get even weirder when we quote from Scruton’s book: “Pen, Pencil Pictures of Bradford”: “Bands of men in female attire, with blackened faces and veils over their heads, went about by night, creating great commotion ... they were styled “Rebecca,” and whenever they went abroad on their errands of mischief, it was said that “Rebecca had gone out to sweep.” Men dressed up as women? Whatever was going on? Well, simply put, it was this: roads were in such poor condition that the government had been forced to pass the Turnpike Act, and the making of turnpike roads, to be paid for by tolls collected at bridges and toll-houses. It was the poorest members of society, thinking they would end up paying for everything, who decided to sabotage the bill by burning down the toll-gates that barred them from using the roads. To do this, the perpetrators needed to be heavily disguised, and so was born the idea of men dressing as women, all being addressed by the same name “Rebecca”, ensuring that no one could identify them. The movement spread rapidly and soon “Rebecca” was “out sweeping” all over the country. Here, Apperley Bridge became one of those toll-bridges, and so the locals of Greengates banded, donned the skirts and shawls, blackened their faces, and together attacked the toll-kiosk on the bridge. This took place on the night of the 18th of June, 1753, when “Rebeccas’” were out in other parts of Bradford. The Bradford toll-house survived, but the Apperley Bridge one was destroyed. Bolstered by the success at Apperley Bridge, in the days to come hundreds of rioters would gather to help “Rebecca” sweep away all the toll-gates in Bradford, and it was said that for a time the night sky glowed from the flames, and echoed to the shouts of unruly mobs in frightening dress bent on destruction, causing many to think they were being attacked by ghosts!”      
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“The George and Dragon Inn would have stood witness to “Rebecca’s” sweepings, just as it would have seen Cromwell’s men pass over the bridge in 1645. The date stone on the gable end of the building says 1704, and that was probably when the building became a public house, but it was here long before then, and because of this it was called “The First House in Idle.” By that they meant it was the only house still standing in the area that could have its history dated back to the 1500s – all else had gone, or never existed. The great oak beams that support the roof date back to long before the 1700s, while a record of deeds was taken in 1587, proving that the building was here then. Today, no doubt, much of what we see has been rebuilt, but the house still retains many of its original features, and certainly would be recognised by those who once used it – including highwaymen, footpads, and yes – Rebecca!”
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From here we walk the few yards to Harrogate Road, taking great care to cross only at the crossing (this is a very dangerous spot – there has been loss of life here in the past) we join Parkin Lane, a very straight road that will take us to Calverley Cutting. As we follow this road we cross over the canal, and from time to time look down on ancient cottages and farmsteads. To our left, on the far side of the River Aire, are the playing fields of Woodhouse Grove School, these days used for rugby and football, but once they were the site of several attempts to break aviation world-records, for here stood the Apperley Bridge “Aerodrome.” Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“It all happened in 1910, when flying-fever had gripped the nation; attempts to break records were being tried all the time – particularly at Blackpool and Filey, then someone heard about the small airfield at Apperley Bridge. Having a runway (i.e. flat field) of a quarter of a mile was considered sufficient for the aviators’ needs, and so the planes soon began to arrive. There seems to be some confusion as to who flew what, and when, but we do know that many attempts ended in disaster. Luckily, no one was killed, though a “Mr. House” – his motor beginning to misfire while high in the air – plummeted into a wall, smashing a hole clean through it! (see our picture).”
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Climbing Parkin Lane we soon come to the start of Calverley Woods, this section being known as the West Wood. Here our Super Trail veers to the right, as we join the Leeds Country Way, but if you wish, you might like to continue to explore along the cutting for a few hundred yards before returning to this point. Whether you decide to take a detour or continue immediately, one thing is certain: the next half-a-mile is the most picturesque of all; the forest here is beautiful – and ancient – beyond belief! Here we are going to take you to a magical place; a place that everybody has long since forgotten about; a place where, once upon a time, many people came hoping for miracles to happen. Here, deep in the wood, lies the site of a Holy Well; not just the site, in fact, the well is still here, in situ - though a little grown over and neglected. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Finding the well is not the easiest of things to do: unfortunately it is not on, or by the track that we walk upon. It is nearby, however, in fact just upon the hillside to our left, but there is no way for us to mark it out for you. The best thing is this: walk for about ten minutes, keeping a look out for any paths that veer off to the left. If you see a path that is surrounded by large rocks then take it. You should see a flat piece of ground – shaped like a square pond, but heavily silted; the well being sited just above it (a footpath leads the way). You will find the well beside a flight of stone steps that at one time would have led the pilgrims down from Eleanor Drive above. In her book “Historic Wells Around Bradford” Val Shepherd refers to a number of Holy Wells in the Bradford area. Today, most of these have disappeared as Bradford has developed into a city. Ours remains exactly where it is, and but for the pool silting up, is pretty much as it were.”
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“Holy Wells were believed to hold miraculous cures, and people would travel miles to bathe in, and drink the waters, that arose from it. The holy powers of the water were thought to cure aches and pains, skin problems and infections. Some even believed they might walk again if they bathed – hence perhaps the pool? At certain times of the year the well head might be dressed with flowers and rushes, which still happens in other parts of the country. Crowds would flock to sing hymns and praise the Lord for being cured of their ailments. Did this ever happen here, at our Holy Well? We can only wonder...”
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“And now we come to the most frightening subject on our trail; forget floods, forget men dressed as women – here comes the legend of the Headless Horseman, and who knows, he might be riding in our direction right now! This story is what nightmares are made of; every horror film maker in the world would love to recreate this story – it has everything, from a mad, murderous man; a coven of witches; a legend – and a headless phantom, cursed to ride through the Calverley Woods forever and a day ... and it’s all true! Walter Calverley, who lived at Calverley Hall, had married in 1601 Phillippa, the daughter of Lord Cobham. By her he had three sons, William, Walter and Henry. Calverley was a wastrel (that’s someone who squanders everything); he drank far too much, and gambled at cards, always hoping to win but always losing in the end. One dark and stormy night – frenzied by drink – the unhappy man, unable to raise money, and fearing everything was about to be taken away from him, burst into the hall’s nursery, stabbing his two eldest children (then two years and one year old). His wife, upon hearing the commotion, dashed into the bedroom where she too was attacked, receiving the dagger in her breast. The mad husband then dashed out of the room leaving behind a wounded wife (she would live) but two children who were slain. Calverley was not yet finished with his murderous quest: now he set out, by horse, to track down his youngest child, just a babe, who was staying with a nurse. However, news soon reached the bailiff (policeman) who quickly put together a posse, and set off in search of the blood-crazed father. Luckily, they caught Calverley before he could kill his third child, and he was thrown in prison. At his trial, to save his estates, he refused to plead “guilty” or “not guilty”, and because of this, he was sentenced to a horrible end – one of being squashed to death! This procedure – known as “pressing” – involved tying the man down to a door, then slowly pressing heavy stones onto his chest, until the weight forced the very life out of him!
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 “Walter o’ Calverley – A pund o’ more weight lig on, lig on”, a saying went, about the execution. But the story did not end there. It is said the body of Walter Calverley was stolen by his servants, and taken from place to place before being secretly buried in Calverley Church. Here he should have been at rest, except that a coven of witches discovered where he lay and through spells conjured up the ghost of the dead man. Having done so, they laid a curse on him: that for all time he was to ride through the woods of Calverley – almost a re-enactment of his ride to find his third child – without his head, and with a headless horse, to make sure he would never fulfil his quest. And that should be the end of the story – but not quite, for when the church was undergoing restoration many years later, a skeleton of a man was found close to where the Calverleys were interred; he had been buried without a coffin, and embedded in plaster. It seems Walter Calverley had indeed been buried in the church! And of his ghost? Well, they do say that on dark and stormy nights ...Thank goodness we have reached the end of the wood and to where the path joins Leeds Road – “he” might have caught us if we had stayed there any longer!”
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It is important that you do not try to cross the busy Leeds Road here, but take the short walk towards Greengates, to the pedestrian crossing – always stay safe! Returning to the spot opposite where we emerged from Calverley Woods, we take a track that leads down into a small fold of houses. This is an amazingly tranquil place, especially when you realise it is just yards away from one of the busiest roads in Bradford! Returning to Leeds Road, we now walk along Ravenscliffe Road to where, at the end, we join the Leeds Country Way, a track that will take us to Fagley. This section of the Super Trail should be taken as a stroll as if you walk too quick you may miss a lot of what the trail has to offer. You will almost certainly see squirrels; possibly a badger or two; foxes will cross your path if you walk quietly, then there are more domestic animals such as horses; cats prowling in the bushes looking for mice and voles to catch, and people walking their dogs. Make sure you keep to the trail as there are other tracks and trails that branch off deeper into the woods. Altogether we will walk about a mile or so through the woods and when we emerge we will be joining the very bottom of Fagley Lane, where the Blue Pig public house nestles on the boundary of Leeds and Bradford. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“And now for the Blue Pig! There has been a pub of some sort here for many years, and in the old days was known as a “whistling shop”, where spirits were sold out of hours. The illegal buying and selling was carried out from a small window poised over Fagley Brook, and because one could never tell whether one was in Fagley or Calverley when the money changed hands, the police had a hard time trying to arrest anyone! The name of The Blue Pig apparently comes from a landlord whose hobby, it was said, was keeping blue/grey pigs out the back. Another claim is that a local farmer once played a joke on the regulars by arriving at the pub with a blue pig under his arm, claiming it had just been born on the farm. Everyone was taken in until someone spotted the ‘blue’ was wet – it was paint!” 

Walking along Fagley Lane we come to the old railway. Here we make a quick detour to join the old track to view a memorial placed there by the local community in memory of one of Fagley’s heroes. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Take a minute to look at the memorial stone that stands at the end of the line, and was set there to honour a man much beloved by Fagley people. His name was Bert Beaumont. They say that everyone in Fagley new Bert. He was a man who loved his football and who, in 1996, along with his friend David Fletcher, formed Fagley F.C. Later, a junior football team was also formed, giving the children of Fagley something to focus on. Due to Bert’s tireless efforts in supporting the teams in every way, and also his community work in general, a local competition was set up called the Bert Beaumont Invitation Trophy. Sadly, Bert died in 2000, and over 300 people attended his funeral – a real testament to his standing in the community. The Bert Beaumont Memorial Trophy is still played for today, with all proceeds going to Children In Need.” 

Bert was obviously a very lovely man and it is good to see that people did not forget him once he had passed on. We bid him goodbye as we continue our walk. Mr. Happycat quotes: 
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“Retracing one’s steps to Fagley Lane, continue to the very top where awaits, on the right, the grounds of St. Clare’s R.C. Church. Did you know that once there stood on this site an old tower which became a notable landmark? The story is as follows: In 1828 a local wool dealer – having been left a lot of money by a family called Jobson - decided he wanted to build a memorial to them. In 1880 local historian, William Cudworth wrote: “It is an octagonal tower, or observatory, two storeys high, which bears the inscription: ‘Not for any merit. Pure, sincere love and esteem caused this tower to be erected to perpetuate to endless ages the memory of Susan, Joseph, John, and Samuel Jobson, upright, honest persons.” It became known as the ‘spy’ tower, as children could look down on courting couples who used the grounds for romantic trysts. For a time the tower was thought to be haunted when white figures were seen billowing within, but this proved to be young lads dressed up in sheets in order to scare off the couples. The tower fell into disrepair and one stormy night was said to have been blown down, but it was actually demolished in 1925 after being condemned as dangerous. We have looked, but can find no trace of the tower today.”
For our Super Trail we will be continuing along Fagley Lane to Killinghall Road, but first we make a slight detour to Ashfield Place, which is a short walk along Moorside Road. Here we pay our respects to one of Bradford’s greatest unsung heroes: Private Eric Anderson V.C. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Here is his story: Eric was born on 15th September 1915 at Ashfield Place. When war was declared in 1939 Eric joined up and went off to fight in the Middle East. Come 1943, and now 27 years old, he was a stretcher bearer with ‘A’ Company, 5th Battalion East Yorkshire Regiment. He took part in several ferocious battles in Tunisia, and it was while fighting at Wadi Akarit that Eric won the Victoria Cross, when, on four occasions, he ventured into no-man’s-land to rescue wounded comrades. With the fighting at its most fierce, Eric had gone out that fourth time, and when trying to save his comrades he was shot and killed. His comrades said that when he went he was: “the only moving target left to shoot at... defying intense machine-gun and mortar fire.” For such gallantry Eric Anderson received the posthumous award of the Victoria Cross. Pte. Anderson’s grave, with the VC engraved upon its headstone, is in the War Cemetery at Sfax in Southern Tunisia. He was the only Bradford man in the Second World War to receive the Victoria Cross.”
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We now return to Fagley Lane and walk in the direction of Killinghall Road, soon arriving at the junction. Here we cross and join Pollard Lane and after a few minutes join Undercliffe Lane. On our right is Undercliffe Cemetery, which we enter and make our way to the Grand Terrace. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Undercliffe Cemetery is regarded, after Hampstead Heath in London, as the most famous and most impressive Victorian Cemetery in the country. It is full of the richest and most notable Bradfordian men and women from that period, all of whom are either buried on either side of the main promenade, or in an area known as the “historic core”. We have picked just a few monuments to highlight, but do look at all of them – you will be truly amazed! Our first highlight is the impressive monument to Sir Jacob Behrens and his family – famous for emigrating to this country from Germany in the 1800s, then moving to Bradford in 1838, where Jacob set about establishing the famous warehouse area of Little Germany. 
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The Behrens memorial is some 20 feet high and is constructed in the Baroque Tablet style. It commemorates various members of the family, and within its ornate decorations are clues relating to the family name.  For instance, if you look carefully you will see a bear standing on one hind leg; the letter “B” is emblazoned in the centre of the monument, and there is supposed to be a bee with its wings outstretched – perhaps suggesting that Mr. Behrens was indeed a “busy bee”! You may notice there are a lot of “Milligans” in this area, and there is one in particular that we want to find. It is the monument belonging to Robert Milligan who became the first mayor of Bradford in 1847. But be careful to make sure you have the right kind of mayor, as sometimes people refer to him as being the first Lord Mayor of Bradford, which he wasn’t – that was actually John Arthur Godwin! Further along to our right is the historic area, where are buried some of the most prominent Victorians. Among these is Swithin Anderton, JP and Bradford’s first so-called “wool baron”. His is a magnificent monument, said to emulate both the Scott Memorial in Edingburgh, and the Albert Memorial in London. However, while it [image: image64.jpg]


rises up like a cathedral spire, it is not considered the best of the bunch. That privilege goes to the beautiful “mastaba”, built for Alfred Illingworth, one-time Liberal M.P. for Bradford West from 1880 to 1895. He was a partner, along with his brother Henry in his father’s spinning mill – Whetley Mills, which was the largest mill in Bradford. Mr. Illingworth’s Egyptian-style tomb consists of an underground room for burial with an area above for offerings. Guarding the entrance are two magnificent sphinxes, and at one time there would have been a bronze door protecting the tomb; however, this was sadly stolen some years ago. Regardless of that, this must still be one of the best of funereal monuments in the country. Moving now to the far end of the promenade we come to, on our left, the last resting place of Keighley Labour M.P. Bob Cryer, who met his untimely death in a road accident in 1994, aged [image: image65.jpg]
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fifty-nine. Originally a teacher, Bradford-born George Robert Cryer was an exceptionally popular man, soon becoming a councillor for Keighley Borough Council, and then becoming M.P. for that town in 1974. His career saw him become a junior minister in the Department of Industry; M.E.P (Member of the European Parliament) for Sheffield 1984-89, and also M.P. for Bradford South. Bob (as everyone knew him) was a founder member of the Keighley & Worth Valley Railway Preservation Society in 1962, becoming its first chairman. Joseph Smith’s monument lies at the very end of the promenade standing high and proud over [image: image67.jpg]


Bradford. It is said you can see this 33ft-high memorial from almost any part of the city; it has even been used as a permanent trigonometry point by the Ordnance Survey. But why did Mr. Smith receive the privilege of having his monument stand in the most [image: image68.jpg]


prominent place in Undercliffe Cemetery? The answer is simple: though Joseph was well known for being involved in many projects such as the Leeds-Halifax railway line in 1835, and subsequently becoming an alderman, it was because he designed the lay out of the cemetery, and was responsible for the sale of the plots, that got him where he wanted to be. In the contract he was allowed to choose the site of his own memorial and so he chose the best plot of them all!
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From Joseph Smith’s monument, we turn to head for the main cemetery gates in Otley Road. Follow the winding path down the hill, passing lots of smaller gravestones, among them one a memorial to a druid, another to a loving couple who died within a day of each other, another to a man who was a passenger guard at Bradford railway station who “died suddenly” (a train crash?), and a stone tree dedicated to a Bradford comedian. All of Bradford’s Victorian history can be found in one form or another at Undercliffe Cemetery – that’s why it’s one of the best in the country!”

At the cemetery gates we re-cross the main road, using the traffic island, then turning left to walk along Otley Road. On our left, and opposite, we can see the walls of Undercliffe Cemetery and where, if we look carefully, we will see in the wall a filled-in horse trough. Once upon a time it would have looked very ornate; the surrounding stones trimmed and decorated. Why should it be here? Well, before we had motors, everything was horse-drawn; the trams and passenger vehicles would be hauled up the steep hill to Undercliffe by horses. At the top they would be sweating and very much in need of a drink of water, so the horse trough was put here. Horses would be unhitched for a few minutes, allowed to drink their fill, and then carry on to their destinations! Taking care to cross the top of Peel Park View, we pass on our right the old baths, turning into Cliffe Road to the right. Here we come quickly to the newly restored gates of Peel Park. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“We enter and are almost immediately met by a beautiful drinking-fountain. Though no longer in use, it is nevertheless a fine monument, excellently restored. It commemorates one Alderman Thomas Beaumont who we take it died in 1861 (as the inscription “Anno Domini 1861” suggests). Another date mentioned: “1865” suggests the fountain was put here in that year. Though we know nothing about Mr. Beaumont, there is one clue on the fountain that tells us all we need to know: “WATER IS BEST”. This was the motto for the Temperance Society (Tee-Totallers) who were against the drinking of alcohol, instead aspiring to the drinking of pure, clean water. They set up drinking fountains wherever they could and quite often, the person who paid for the fountain would have his or her name inscribed on it. So we believe it to be with Mr. [image: image73.png]


Beaumont – however, if you know different... Now we enjoy the wide, open expanses of the park, making our way along the pathway to the cafe. (Look out for the stone commemorating the City of Bradford’s centenary of 1997) Here we may cross the grass to stand in front of a most impressive monument. Standing high and proud on the pedestal is a man we have all heard of in one form or another – Sir Robert Peel. It was he who became Prime Minister, fighting for the rights of the common man, and [image: image74.jpg]


creating the very first Police Force – men who were known as “peelers”. Mr. Peel was born in Lancaster in 1788. He came from a good family who, though not rich, were “comfortable”. Robert saw how lucky he and his family were: all around him lived the poor and down-trodden of society. He went to [image: image75.jpg]


University, after which he fought, and was elected to, Parliament, as M.P. for Tamworth. His nick-name was “Orange Peel” and he [image: image76.jpg]


was often ‘ribbed’ about it in the House of Commons. He rose to become Prime Minister and it was then that he set about passing laws to help the poor and make the streets safer. Sir Robert Peel was a great man who unfortunately died prematurely when he fell of his horse.
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The terrace that we now stand on is exactly the same as the Grand Terrace that we walked upon in Undercliffe Cemetery. This is because the same man designed and laid it out – our old friend, Mr. Joseph Smith! And now we must walk along his terrace, in a westerly direction, towards the viewing point we can see at the far end of the terrace. As we do so, on our left we will pass a beautiful statue entitled “AUTUMN”. The lady – who we presume is a goddess, holds a sheaf of corn over her left shoulder, while in her right hand she holds a sickle. She represents the harvest. At our view point we can see almost [image: image78.jpg]


all of Bradford; there are lots of things to see, and an information board has been set up to tell us what to look for. Out of the many, we have picked two things to mention on our trail: Manningham Mills, and Bradford Grammar School. Samuel Cunliffe Lister [image: image79.jpg]1, ) “a '# s
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built Manningham Mills in 1873, and when opened it was, at the time, the largest mill in the world (beating Sir Isaac Holden’s). Mr. Lister, who would become Lord Masham, was incredibly rich, having made his money designing and manufacturing the very machinery that would now fill his huge Manningham Mills. The whole enterprise would [image: image80.png]


make him famous and throughout the 20th century the name “Lister” appeared everywhere. He gave us Lister Park – commonly known as Manningham Park. Sadly, the textile trade began to die out in the middle of the 20th century and many Bradford mills closed, as did the once seemingly unassailable Manningham Mills. Bradford Grammar School was first established as a “Free School” in 1548, later becoming known as The Free Grammar School of Charles II. It was originally sited next to Bradford Parish Church (later the cathedral) but was abolished in the 1800s. A new school was built in Manor Row in 1873, and in [image: image81.jpg]


1936 work began on the school we see today. The new school was opened by the Duke of Edinburgh in 1949. These days the school houses science laboratories, IT rooms, a swimming pool and a substantial library. Past luminaries have included David Hockney, Sir Dennis Healey and Olympic swimmer Adrian Morehouse.
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We leave the viewpoint, and take a left turn, walking down the hill to the ornamental pond at the bottom. Here we can walk right around the pond, admiring the wild life that frequents it. There is also something else to see: the remains of a doorway that once graced Bradford Hall. It must have been rescued and brought here at sometime in the past. Inside there is a cartouche (plaque) which has written on it: “1705” and “1707” and the name “W. Rawson”. This is most likely the Rawson Family, of which Rawson Market was named after. From here we follow the ornamental lake round and leave Peel Park by the main gate. Here there is a board displaying various historical facts about the park and some of the monuments featured on our trail”. 
At this point we have to cross the very busy road, so it is essential that we use the pedestrian crossing situated a few yards away to our right, as we leave the park. We are heading for a very old and historical area known as ‘Lower Fold’. Here lies our ‘Jewel in the Crown’ so to speak – a beautiful medieval manor house called Spout Ing Manor. It is the greatest surprise of all on our trail, though first we will visit Rose Cottage – the house almost next door. Having safely crossed the road we must now walk a short way down Queens Road (approx 200 yards) to where a snicket leads off to our right. We take this, which brings us immediately into a very historical area. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“Here the path leads by Rose Cottage, the former home of William Edward Forster (1818-1886) of whom Bradford’s well-known Forster Square is named after. Mr. Forster was a Liberal M.P. who represented Bradford for 25 years from 1861 until his death is 1886. He was an extraordinary man who fought to change the rules of Parliament, making it possible for the common man (without funds) to take power from the rich who ruled the country. He was also largely responsible for the 1870 Elementary Education Act which paved the way for all children to receive by law an education. Moving along we pass through Tetley Place (the terrace houses here are wonderful examples of Victorian architecture) and, walking to the rear, are met with the historic Low Fold area. Our ‘jewel’ basks here in the sun – a beautiful medieval manor house, today known as Spout Ing Manor. When we first visited this building the owner was here and he told us that it dates back to the 13th century. If correct, then parts of this building may be 800 years old! Certainly, there is plenty of evidence for this in the foundations. Another period in evidence is the Tudor period: there is a door into the house (via the garden) which is a Tudor door, while inside is a massive Tudor ‘inglenook’ fireplace. A truly amazing house! The house also once had a very famous resident – Mr. John Hustler. It was he who was known as the man who ‘made’ Bradford – turning it from a town into a city. He championed the building of the Leeds & Liverpool Canal, and also campaigned for a Bradford branch – which he got. The canal ran from Shipley, right into the centre of the town, bringing huge prosperity, and giving the town its nick-name “Worstedopolis”.
Leaving the ancient Low Fold, continue along Bolton Lane until one arrives at, on the left, an ancient farmstead, long ago described as: ‘... Walnut Farm, which in 1651 was in the possession of John Jowett, Shoe maker, of Ye Kyrkgate, Bradforde’.  Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“This beautiful old farm has stood here for centuries, known at times as Bartlett House, Bolton Banks Farm, Bilton Fold, and Walnut Tree Farm. On the gable of the house are the initials B.E.B. and the date 1736. These represent the names of Benjamin Bartlett and his wife Elizabeth, who built the new house as a summer residence, but all the different names refer to places and people connected to the house: Bolton Banks (the area is so named); Bilton, after a Quaker named Bilton resided there; Bartlett, after the Benjamin and Elizabeth, and finally Walnut, and Walnut Tree, after a walnut tree was planted there in the 1700s. It was said that by 1812 the tree was fully matured and that ‘in recent summers hundreds of walnuts have been gathered.’ Comprising the farm is also Walnut Cottage, the smaller of the two dwellings. There is a startling story connected to the houses, how over two hundred years ago, when they were in the possession of a Miss Mary Thornton, a robbery took place. Late one stormy night, two men wearing black masks entered the house, terrorising the occupants and stealing a quantity of wool tops and money. Some time later, quite by chance, the house maid, while in a comb shop in Bradford, heard the voice of a workman in the cellar, and recognised his voice as one of the robbers. “Yond’s t’man who robbed my mistress!” she screamed. The man was arrested, and he and his accomplice, after a trial where they constantly protested their innocence, were found guilty and hung at York Castle. Justice seemed to have been done, yet twenty years later their innocence was proved when a man named Turner, who called regularly at the farm for milk, confessed to being one of the robbers. The shock so upset Miss Thornton that she never recovered from its effects and died. Some said the house became haunted by the lady’s ghost!”
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Leaving our – haunted or not – farm behind, we walk to the end of Bolton Lane and turn right to begin the climb up King’s Road. Luckily there is a foot path that wends its way through the brushwood alongside the busy road so we are sheltered from the traffic. However, we must cross King’s Road to take the steps down to Long Meadow, so make sure you use the pedestrian island opposite. Picking up a footpath that leads across the fields to the left, we come to an area that is sadly now fenced off. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“This is a shame as there were many things to discover in these fields and woods. Going back to 1645, when the plague visited Bradford, it is said that victims were buried in this area. Where the dead were laid to rest, stones were stood haphazardly over their graves. In the copse opposite to where we stand are a number of such stones – is this where the plague-pit was? Also, we now stand in ancient “Bradford Boar” country. The story of how Bradford got its coat-of-arms comes from this area. The vicious boar that frightened everyone roamed the area between Bolton Woods, Bolton Villas and Cliffe Wood, which is the area around Wapping Road. We had hoped that we might be able to show you the very drinking hole that the boar used, since there is a spring rising in the field opposite to where we stand, but we now feel that the spring was actually closer to the centre of Bradford.” 

[image: image97.jpg]


From here keep right, and climb the hill to join Poplars Park Road, taking the track to the left (just before Poplars Farm School). Though one might not think it, this track has been here for centuries, and is often referred to in books written many years ago. It would have been a quick way to get to Bradford from Idle, passing through Cliffe Woods and our “Wild Boar Country”. The steady climb reveals, on looking back, a wonderful vista of the city. We can see right across the valley to Lister’s famous Manningham Mills nestling near to the horizon. Its chimney was said at one time to have been the largest in the world! Stop for a few moments to enjoy the view.  Up ahead, on the right, one sees the white chimney of a farmstead. Mr. Happycat quotes:
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“This we believe to be formally called Wood Lane Farm; spoken of in William Cudworth’s book “The History of Bolton” (circa 1880). It is not the original farm, but was built in 1857 by the Jowetts, a very wealthy family from the area. Cudworth tells us it was rented to a family called Hodgson, who had “...nine strapping sons, some of them eccentric.” Like Richard Hodgson, who courted his fiancé for 40 years before finally making an honest woman of her! There was also James, who believed all his life that someone was trying to poison him, and so ate nothing and refused to drink water other than that from a secret well that only he knew of!”
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A lot of buildings have disappeared from Wood Lane; there was a house known as the “Flower of England” here – could our farmstead be one and the same? Before moving on, Cudworth also states that: “Somewhere near to here, a brass pan full of gold was buried many years ago, still to be found.” Better bring our metal detectors next time! Continuing, enter Wood Lane proper, and notice there are lots of fully mature trees on this street. Again it shows the age of the road. On the left we approach a patch of ground where in the corner is a snicket. Follow this through to Cheltenham Road, go left and pass the roundabout which brings one to, on the left, Bolton Hall – one of the “gems” on our trail. Mr. Happycat Quotes:
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“This building dates back many centuries, though it has been altered and built on over the years, but the main section differs little from original drawings. Cudworth wrote of the hall thus: “The date of its erection we assume to have been the year 1627, from a stone which is still preserved, upon which are the initials T.W. From these initials ... we incline to the belief that the Bolton Hall estate was purchased by the Stanhopes from Thomas Walker, then living in Bolton. 
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The traditions of Bolton Old Hall include a ghost, which is said to make its appearance at stated intervals at the circular window, which can be seen in the upper wall of the main gabled section of the hall. It is worth having a quick “shufty” around the back of the hall to admire the extremely long roofs – so typical of the 1600s.”
From here we take a walk along Livingstone Road to Wrose Road. Here we cross at the lights and join King’s Road where at the end we climb the steps leading into All Alone Road. We turn right and follow the road a little way down the hill to arrive at, on our left, the track that will take us to All Alone House (signposted). Mr. Happycat quotes:

“Walking along here brings one to a really beautiful house – the ancient homestead known simply as “All Alone”. The oddly-named All Alone house, or group of houses, may seem a strange name, but when it was built it was a very apt name indeed. The house was the first to be built on the hillside overlooking Idle, right on the edge of the moor, and from the valley dwellers’ point of view below, it must have looked “all alone” up on the hill. The house was almost certainly built in the 18th century, though no records seem to survive of the actual date of its erection. What we do know is that it was occupied by Dr. Samuel Ellis (whom some historians believe Doctor Hill was named after: the track to the house began at Bradford Road). An old document dated 1815 speaks of All Alone as “...the house that Samuel Ellis built and erected and in which he died.” Dr. Ellis came by the land on which the house stands in 1773, so it must have been built between then and 1777, when he had the land enclosed. At All Alone Doctor Ellis cared for a single patient: the Hon. Luke Plunkett, son of the Earl of Fingall, Lord-Lieut. of Meath. It is unclear how this situation came about; it seems that the doctor was loath to leave his roots to travel to Ireland to attend the gentleman, and so perhaps the Irishman came here instead! Others who have lived here include the White family, of whose son, Mr. John White had his children taught by none other Charlotte Bronte! Over the years the house has changed hands on many occasions, but the name of the building always remains unchanged – All Alone!”

Just opposite All Alone is a snicket that leads between the gardens of the modern-day housing estate that has grown up around the house. Following this we shortly come to the edge of Idle Moor (or Common), where a fenced path leads on to the moor itself. It brings us to a point midway between where we began and a group of houses known as “The Starting Post”. We don’t actually visit these oddly-named houses, since we turn right at the fork and walk across the moor in the direction of Westfield Lane, but it is worth knowing how the name came about. Mr. Happycat quotes:

“Here is a quote from Idlethorp by Wright Watson: “This is another of the ageless habitations of Idle, and it is another which, like “All Alone”, has been rightly named, for it was built on, or near to, the site of the starting stoup, or post, from which the Idle Moor Races used to run,” In the Leeds Mercury of Tuesday 15th July, 1729, and also on Tuesday 6th of July, 1731, it announces that: “races will be run on Idle Over Moor by any horse, mare, or gelding for Plate of the value of £3 and £7.” Entries were to be made to a Mr. John Bower at the Manor House in Idle. There has not been races here for two-hundred years now, but that does not mean we cannot still see parts of the track (by scrutinising the lay out of the fields); also, there are still lots of horses in the fields, some tethered, but most just left to roam wild – be careful!”

Moving on, one approaches a “Kisting Gate”. This is a stile built in such a manner as to trick animals into thinking they are facing a stone wall. At ground level, animals, which only have 2D eye sight, see it as a continuous wall, since the large upright stones are positioned in such a way to form this illusion. They will not try to pass through, but we - having 3D eyesight - can see there is a way through and pass accordingly! We make our way through, and continue on the path that leads to the far side of the field. Here we climb a stile, joining a snicket that brings us into Westfield Lane. Here we turn right and begin the steady walk down the hill to where we will shortly come to a small enclosed space, with a gate in the wall to pass through into. This is very special!

It might not look like it, but this is actually a “Quaker” cemetery. It is very old, and in many ways, very beautiful. Mr. Happycat quotes: 

“Now, before entering this quaint little cemetery, (by the gate - look at the date stone above – 1690!) one must be very careful not to upset the ghost that is said to haunt it. That’s right – I said GHOST! However, provided you don’t run seven times round the walls of the burial ground, nothing will happen. If you do, tradition states that the ghost will rise from one of the graves and chase you away. The ground was given to the Quakers by Joshua Bartlett, a prosperous Bradford book-seller, and a noted Quaker himself. Trustees for the plot of land were appointed and for a time a Samuel Drake guarded the spot. Others followed, including Jeremy Grimshaw, Thomas Yewdall, and Benjamin Sandall. The first burials were Jeremiah Yewdall, son on Thomas (named above) and Benjamin Swaine. The name “Yewdall” appears on an original memorial stone that has been preserved and set into the ground.”

Continuing on our way towards Idle, we approach the outskirts of the village. Here there are some very interesting styles of houses; however, the best is just around the corner! Now we come to the ancient village of Idle itself.  We say “ancient” because we know that this part of the village is where the original settlement was. The name, “Idle” probably means “Hill of Ide” – a hill belonging to Ide (Ide-Hill) and where he/she had their dwelling. Other definitions include it being named after the inhabitants who were all said to be lazy! Let’s see who else owned this land we stand on. Records show that Ilbert de Lacey was the first owner. Then he sold Idle to the de Plumpton family. By 1280 Sir Robert Plumpton had taken ownership, and then his son. A few years later and the manor came into the possession of Edward III, who presented it to his beloved Queen Philippa – the village was now owned by royalty! In 16th century the lands were in joint possession of several important lords and knights, the most prominent being Sir George Clifford, Third Earl of Cumberland, who owned Skipton Castle. He was probably the most illustrious joint-owner of Idle as he was a personal friend of Queen Elizabeth I, being her Champion of the Tilt Yard (jousting). He was a seafarer and when the Spanish Armada arrived in 1588 he took out the Queen’s own ship – the Elizabeth Bonaventure – and sank six ships of the Spanish fleet. He wore the Queen’s Glove in his hat to show all at Court just how close they were!

So we come to the buildings themselves: the most prominent being the Old Chapel (sometimes called the Old Bell Chapel after the first minister, a Mr. Bell). Mr. Happycat quotes:

“This beautiful building was built in 1630, as the date stone over the ancient doorway testifies. This, though quite possibly the oldest surviving chapel in the area, is not the original, since a small mission chapel existed on this spot as far back as 1583. Although this chapel was erected in 1630, it was not consecrated until 1692. Up until then it had been used by Noncomformist congregations – the famous itinerant preacher, Oliver Haywood preached here, no doubt attracting large crowds of worshippers – his sermons were well noted. Standing beside the chapel was the Town Well – still visible on photographs of the 20th century, but now sadly gone. The chapel also housed a “Lock-up”, where drunk and disorderly people would be put to cool off. William Cudworth wrote in 1880: “... a Highway Board ... met in the little dungeon beside the Old Bell Chapel, and were the custodians of the “town’s box” and its contents. Some lively scenes have taken place there...” There is so much history here that we simply do not have the space to record it, so why not just take a few minutes to have a little wander around the nooks and crannies that surround this ancient road-junction. Take a look at the White Bear – does it hide a secret? Could this be where the original Idle Manor House was? Old records say it stood only a few yards south-east of the Town Well, more or less where the pub stands now. Apart from the manor house standing here, alongside it, or very close by, was the pinfold – a place where stray animals were kept by a man called a pinder. You had to pay him to get them back!”

Just along Town Gate stands the Gothic church of Holy Trinity, Idle’s main place of worship. During the 19th century a movement was formed to erect a new church in the village. In 1828 the villagers’ wish came true, when the foundation stone was laid. Mr. Happycat quotes:

“The church took two years to build, being consecrated in 1830. Idle was very lucky in that an act known as the Church Building Act, passed by Parliament in 1818, allowed for money to be granted to them to build Holy Trinity from a central fund of one million pounds. There was provision for 500 churches to be built from this fund, though only 174 were eventually constructed. As a result of this, Holy Trinity – along with the 173 – became known as a “Million Church”. Though the building is very attractive, it is not specifically decorated in any ornate way; it is simple lancet Gothic of early 13th century, typical of the “parliamentary churches”. In the churchyard are some very interesting monuments; notice, for instance, the very beautiful and intricately-carved font that has been placed on a pedestal in the churchyard, just a few yards from the entrance to the building. Also in the churchyard are more personal monuments to those that are buried here.” 

We continue along Town Lane, passing the Grange which has a legend attached to it: no one quite knows when it was built. Why? It seems many years ago, an ill-tempered owner destroyed the evidence of the house’s age. But the finials give the game away: one has carved on it “16” and the other “32” – 1632. From here it is a short walk back to where we began the Super Trail, at the junction of Leeds Road and Thackley Road. Here, Mr. Happycat makes his final quote:
“We are going to finish our trail with a very well-known writer. We approach Thackley School where a young John Braine - best known for his novel “Room at the Top” – went. The novel was filmed and major stars were cast in the main roles. Lawrence Harvey, Simone Signoret and Donald Wolfit made the film a classic, seen as one of the best northern working-class films of its day. John went on to write twelve more novels, including “Life at the Top”. He shared, along with other writers such as John Osborne the title of “The Angry Young Men” – novelists who deplored the post war “establishment”. John Braine died on 28th October, 1986, aged sixty-four in Hampstead, London. His ashes are buried at Bingley Cemetery.”
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The Shared Heritage Trail of Greengates and Parkland Primary Schools

The Shared Heritage Trail of Immanuel College, Idle, Thackley, Blakehill and Thorpe Primary Schools
The  Shared Heritage Trail of Swain House, Grove House and Poplar’s Farm Primary Schools; St. Francis’ Catholic Primary School and Hanson Upper School


The Shared Heritage Trail of Cavendish, Holybrook, St. Luke’s, Fagley and Wellington Primary Schools; St. Clare’s and Our Lady of St. Brendan’s Catholic Primary Schools, and Ravenscliffe Day Centre.
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